Nature of the Case

Defendant-Appellant, Michael Andrew Paulson, appeals his convictions for second-degree murder and attempted second-degree murder.

Statement of the Issues

Issue I: The district court committed reversible error when it refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter and attempted voluntary manslaughter.

Issue II: Prosecutorial misconduct that occurred during closing argument prejudiced the Defendant's right to a fair trial and requires reversal of his convictions.

Issue III: The district court committed reversible error in allowing the State to introduce irrelevant evidence of the Defendant's religious beliefs.

Issue IV: The district court committed reversible error when it admitted inadmissible hearsay statements of Valerie Paulson under various hearsay exceptions and as evidence of marital discord.

Issue V: The district court committed reversible error when it admitted into evidence statements made by the Defendant while he was incarcerated in the Saline County Jail.

Issue VI: The Defendant's waiver of his Miranda rights and subsequent statements to law enforcement were not knowing or voluntary and violated the Fifth Amendment; as a consequence, the district court erred in denying the Defendant's motion to suppress his statements to Deputy Allen.

Issue VII: The Defendant was denied his Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial by the cumulative errors committed by the court.

Issue VIII: The district court committed reversible error when it ordered the Defendant to reimburse BIDS for attorney fees and to order restitution to the Kansas Crime Victim's Compensation Board.

Statement of the Facts

The Defendant and his wife, Valerie Paulson (hereinafter "Valerie") were married for 20 years. (R. XXXI, 625). They had two children, Austin, who was 14 years of age, and Nathan, who was 10 years of age. Valerie had a daughter, Kyrsten, by her first marriage. (R. XXXII, 846). After the Defendant married Valerie, he adopted Kyrsten. (R. XXXII, 848).

The Defendant worked for Blue Beacon, International, a company that owns truck and car washes, for 20 years. By July, 2010, the Defendant was working as a field representative for the company. (R. XVIII, 76-77). Defendant's position required him to travel several nights a week, every other week. (R. XXXIII, 1066).

Valerie was a stay-at-home mother who home-schooled her children. (R. XXXIV, 1349). She also handled the family's finances. The evidence disclosed that when the Defendant was traveling, Valerie would leave the house on a regular basis, and would stay out as late as 4 a.m. (R. XXXIV, 1414; XXXIII, 1305). Austin suspected his mother was seeing someone; however, Austin never told the Defendant of his suspicions. (R. XXXIV, 1415).

Valerie confided to her friend, Danielle Norwood, that she had begun a relationship with a man named Chuck Beemer in 2007. (R. XXXV, 1720). Beemer and Defendant had been friends. (R. XXXII, 858). Kyrsten saw Valerie get into Beemer's car one night. (R. XXXIII, 1068). The Defendant, however, did not know of the relationship between Valerie and Beemer. (R. XXXIII, 1219-20).

Valerie began giving large sums of money to Beemer on a regular basis to pay for Beemer's food, rent and living expenses. (R. XXXV, 1726, 1729). By the end of 2008, Valerie had run up nearly \$100,000 of debt, more than half of which was credit card debt. (XXXIX, 2495). The Defendant was under the impression that their house in Lindsborg was almost paid off and that Valerie had put away money for their retirement. (R. XXXIII, 1214). In fact, the family was nearly bankrupt due to Valerie's spending. Valerie lied to the Defendant about their financial situation and went to great efforts to cover it up. (R. XXXII, 852, 978-79).

When she could no longer hide their worsening financial situation, Valerie finally told the Defendant about the debt she had accumulated at a family meeting. (R. XXXII, 853). The Defendant was frustrated by Valerie's cover up of the debt, because it jeopardized their ability to send their sons to college or contribute to Kyrsten's upcoming wedding. (R. XXXIII, 1065).

After the financial disclosure, the Defendant and Valerie separated for two days. (R. XXXII, 1064). The Defendant accepted Valerie's explanation for the debt and the couple decided to reconcile, seeking counseling through their pastor, Chris Matthews. (R. XXXIX, 2496; XXXIII, 1064-65).

The Defendant took over the family finances, and gave Valerie \$200 a week for expenses. He opened several bank accounts to which only he had access. (R. XXXV, 1855-58).

Since the family could no longer afford the large Lindsborg house, they moved to a smaller house in Assaria, Kansas, in 2009. (R. XXXII, 854; XXXIII, 1057). Kyrsten married Joshua Hoffman in August, 2009. Kyrsten and Joshua lived in McPherson, Kansas. (R. XXXIII, 1058).

In 2010, Valerie begun a sexual relationship with Daniel Fouard. Fouard had grown up with the Defendant and Valerie, in the same church. Valerie apparently had connected with Fouard via Facebook. (R. XXXII, 856). Valerie told Danielle Norwood about her affair with Fouard, (R. XXXV, 1725), and told another close friend, Dawn Kurtz, that she was “in love” with Fouard. (R. XXXV, 1794). Valerie also told her step-brother, John Heitsman, that she was seeing Fouard. (R. XXXVII, 2129-30). Neither Heitsman nor anyone else who knew about Valerie’s affair told the Defendant. (R. XXXVII, 2131).

In June, 2010, Defendant, Valerie, and their two sons went on vacation. (R. XXXIII, 1085-86). Valerie did not want to go and was irritable and distant the entire time. She repeatedly made secret phone calls outside the presence of Defendant and her children. (R. XXXIX, 2512-13). Following their return from the vacation, Valerie told the Defendant that she was going to dinner with her friend, Dawn Kurtz. When it grew late and Valerie had not returned, the Defendant called Kurtz. Kurtz told him that she had not gone to dinner with Valerie. Defendant asked Kurtz if Valerie was having an affair. Kurtz denied that and told the Defendant that Valerie was only talking to people. (R. XXXV, 1785-86).

The Defendant then called his daughter, Kyrsten, and asked her to come to his house in Assaria because he could not locate Valerie. (R. XXXII, 1074). When Valerie finally came home, Defendant and Kyrsten asked her what was going on. Valerie replied: “Nothing.” (R. XXXIII, 1077). Kyrsten then asked Valerie whether she was still seeing Chuck Beemer. This

was the first time the Defendant had heard about Beemer. (R. XXXIII, 1079-81). Valerie told the Defendant that Chuck was “just a friend.” (R. XL, 2755). She told Kyrsten the next morning that she and the Defendant had worked things out. (R. XXXIII, 1222-23).

In the week before the July 4 holiday, Valerie and the Defendant had a reconciliation. They stayed up several nights having sex. (R. XXXIX, 2532-33). Austin testified that his parents were getting along well at that time. (R. XXXIV, 1389-90)

Over the July 4th weekend, Defendant, Valerie, and their two sons went to spend time with the Defendant’s family in Augusta, Kansas. (R. XXXIV, 1350). On the morning of July 5, the Defendant found two texts from Fouard on Valerie’s phone. The texts read: “Good morning beautiful. I love you, Valerie.” Defendant immediately called Fouard back and told him to stay away from his wife and not to contact her again. (R. XXXIII, 1088).

The Defendant woke up Valerie and the two went for a drive around Augusta. (R. XXXIII, 1089). Valerie denied any sexual relationship, saying the texts were from someone she tried to help, but who would not leave her alone. (R. XXXIX, 2517; XL, 2820). Valerie told Kyrsten everything was okay. (R. XXXII, 1089). The Defendant told Austin that, in order for the Defendant and Valerie to stay together, she would have to give up Facebook and her phone for awhile. (R. XXXIV, 1353). A short time later, the Defendant learned that Valerie had attempted to use Austin’s phone to access the internet. (R. XXXIV, 1350-51).

Later on that day, the Paulsons drove back to Assaria. Austin and Nathan slept for a short time during the drive. (R. XXXIV, 1442). Austin woke up and heard a heated conversation between the Defendant and Valerie. The Defendant told Valerie that he was dropping her off at her boyfriend’s house. Valerie replied that Fouard was not her boyfriend,

that he was a stranger, and she did not want to go over there. At some point, the Defendant called Fouard and asked to drop Valerie off at his residence. Valerie asked that the Defendant lower his voice so the two boys would not hear their argument. (R. XXXIV, 1356-59, 1390).

Valerie later told Jessie Putman, her sister-in-law, that, during the drive back to Assaria, the Defendant cussed her out, accused her of having an affair and told her she should kill herself. According to Valerie's report, the Defendant said he was praying that God would kill her. (R. XXXII, 872). Austin, who was in the back seat, told law enforcement officers and testified at trial that the Defendant never said these words to Valerie. (R. XXXIV, 1391, 1443).

The Defendant drove to Jessie's house. He called Jessie and told her that they were outside and Valerie needed a place to stay. (R. XXXII, 868-69). The Defendant told Jessie that they were getting a divorce and Valerie needed to stay with her. (R. XXXII, 870). Jessie testified that Defendant was flustered and upset and Valerie was crying. (R. XXXII, 871).

Kyrsten found out Fouard's name and address. She drove to his house, knocked on the door, but received no answer. She then spoke to Fouard's son. His son confirmed that Valerie had been over to Fouard's house several times to make them dinner. (R. XXXIII, 1091-93).

Kyrsten called the Defendant and told him what she had learned from Fouard's son. The Defendant broke into tears and cried like A.P. had never seen him cry before. (R. XXXIV, 1393). Kyrsten testified that the Defendant was a "broken man" after she told him the information. He was tearful and crying. (R. XXXIII, 1231, 1234). Kyrsten then drove to Jessie's house to talk to Valerie. When she told her mother the information she had learned from Fouard's son, Valerie did not say anything. (R. XXXIII, 1094-95). Kyrsten asked Jessie if she

thought Valerie was having an affair. Jessie told Kyrsten that she believed Valerie that Valerie and Fouard were “just friends.” (R. XXXII, 980-81).

After the Defendant spoke to Kyrsten on the phone, he drove the boys over to Fouard’s house. Before leaving, the Defendant placed a Glock pistol under the floorboard of the truck. He told Austin not to worry because he wasn’t going to do anything with it. (R. XXXIV, 1362-63). Fouard did not have a very good reputation in the community. John Heitsman, Valerie’s step-brother, confirmed at trial that even he had some concerns about Fouard. (R. XXXVII, 2131). When the Defendant arrived at Fouard’s house, no one was home. He then drove to Jessie’s house. (R. XXXIV, 1364).

While parked near Jessie’s house, the Defendant called Keenan Brown, his supervisor at Blue Beacon. Defendant told Keenan that he believed his wife was involved with another man and needed to take the next week off work. Keenan testified that Defendant was “devastated” and “very, very hurt.” Defendant told Keenan that he was going to be all right because of the support he was receiving. Defendant then asked Keenan for the name of a divorce attorney. Keenan suggested that Defendant and Valerie seek counseling; however, the Defendant did not seem interested in pursuing that option. Keenan told the Defendant to take the next week off and to seek some counsel from Mark Brown another Blue Beacon employee. (R. XXXV, 1814-21).

Kyrsten asked the Defendant to speak with Valerie about working things out between them. Both the Defendant and Valerie agreed to talk. (R. XXXII, 875-76; XXXIII, 1095). Defendant and Valerie talked in private at Jessie’s house for a period of time. During this conversation, Valerie denied that she was having an affair with Fouard. (R. XXXII, 965).

The Defendant drove back to Fouard's house. This time Fouard was there. The conversation between the two was described by Austin as being "calm." At one point, Defendant and Fouard shook hands. Fouard told the Defendant that his relationship with Valerie was not sexual because Valerie was married. (R. XXXV, 1365-67, 1398).

Thereafter, Defendant drove back to the Assaria house. (R. XL, 2761). The Defendant and Austin talked much of the night about divorce and child custody. Austin fell asleep. When he awoke, he saw his father was praying. (R. XXXV, 1368-69). The Defendant got about 30 minutes of sleep that night. (R. XL, 2761).

On the morning of July 6, 2010, at about 8:30 a.m., Defendant called Keenan Brown. According to Keenan, Defendant sounded better than he did on July 5, and was more open to seeking counseling. Defendant told Keenan that he was still going to file for divorce only to show Valerie how serious he was. (R. XXXV, 1822-25). He also told Keenan that the divorce attorney he had recommended was not available to see him that day. (R. XXXV, 1823, 1829).

Defendant also spoke to Mark Brown at Blue Beacon who performed family counseling. Mark testified that the Defendant was stressed and nervous. (R. XXXV, 1843). Defendant told Mark that he thought Valerie was potentially involved with another man and that they might get divorced. He had questions about whether the spouse who filed first had an advantage in obtaining custody of the children. Mark told him there might be an initial advantage if Defendant filed for divorce first. When Mark suggested a very aggressive divorce attorney, the Defendant replied that he did not want to do anything that would hurt Valerie. He still had hopes that they would reconcile. (R. XXXV, 1836-38).

About 10 or 11 a.m. on July 6, Defendant called Kyrsten. She suggested that Defendant and the two boys come and stay with her and her husband in McPherson for a few days. Defendant agreed to come and stay with her. (R. XXXIII, 1101-02). Defendant also spoke with Valerie by telephone on July 6. He told her that he was going to stay with Kyrsten for a few days. They also made arrangements for Valerie to get back into the Assaria house after the Defendant and the children left. (R. XXXII, 886-87).

Thereafter, the Defendant and the two boys began loading Defendant's truck with their belongings. They loaded photograph albums, guns, clothes and file cabinets. (R. XXXIV, 1375-77). The evidence shows, that during this time, the Defendant was mentally distracted. He could not find his truck keys, even though they were right in front of him. He was clearly distressed and unable to focus his thoughts. (R. XL, 2764-65).

Defendant withdrew a total of about \$14,500 from accounts in two banks. Thereafter, he drove to Kyrsten's house in McPherson and unloaded some of the items in the truck. The Defendant placed an envelope containing the money withdrawn from the banks in drawer and told Kyrsten that he would discuss it with her later. (R. XXXV, 1851-60; XXXIII, 1103-04). The Defendant left his daughter's house to go to the grocery store. (R. XXXIII, 1104).

The Defendant had located a house to rent at 205 W. First Street in Assaria. Debbie Richter, the owner of the property, called the Defendant in response to a phone message he left earlier and arranged to meet the Defendant with her husband, Douglas, at the property at 6 p.m. (R. XXXIV, 1463-65). The Defendant called Kyrsten and told her he was going back to Assaria to look at a rental house. (R. XXXIII, 1106).

Defendant called Austin and told him that he was going home and was going to find a place to hide to determine if Valerie regretted anything and whether she was talking to other men on the phone. Defendant told Austin he also wanted to listen to any discussion between Jessie and Valerie. (R. XXXIV, 1408-09). He asked Austin not to say anything about him going to the house. (R. XXXIV, 1382).

The Defendant also told Kyrsten that he was going to the home in Assaria to learn whether Valerie was talking to anyone on the phone. (R. XXXIII, 1107). He told Kyrsten that he needed to hear it for himself. (R. XXXIII, 1242). The Defendant asked her not to tell anyone that he was going to the house. (R. XXXIII, 1109).

Before the Defendant went to his home, he met Debbie and Douglas Richter at their rental property. He told them that he and his wife were having marital difficulties, and a counselor had suggested they separate for three to six months. The Defendant told them that he wanted to rent a place that was within walking distance of his Assaria home so it would be easy for his children to visit him. (R. XXXIV, 1468, 1482).

Defendant inspected the rental with the Richters for about 25 minutes. Defendant told them that, because he hoped to reconcile with his wife, he wanted a short-term lease. Although the Richters normally rented the property for a longer term, they decided to give the Defendant an application. (R. XXXIV, 1469-72, 1478). Both the Richters testified that the Defendant repeatedly blinked his eyes while speaking with them. Debbie described it as a “nervous twitch.” (R. XXXIV, 1477-78, 1486). After looking at the rental house, the Defendant texted Kyrsten. He wrote that the rental house was an answer to prayer. (R. XXXIII, 1240).

The Defendant subsequently drove to the family home in Assaria and parked his truck in the garage. Defendant then hid himself in Austin's attic bedroom. (R. XXXIX, 2522). Due to the smallness of the Assaria home, conversations taking place in the kitchen can be heard from the attic. (R. XXXIII, 1117-18).

Valerie had spent the night at Jessie's house. Jessie went to work on July 6 until about 12:30 p.m., leaving her cell phone with Valerie. (R. XXXII, 885). On the afternoon of July 6, Fouard dropped off a new cell phone and a package of underwear for Valerie. (R. XXXII, 889-90, 894). Valerie told Jessie that Defendant was out of the Assaria house; consequently, they decided to drive to the house in the evening of July 6. (R. XXXII, 894). When they arrived at the Assaria house they noticed that pictures of Allen Betts (Valerie's first husband) and Chuck Beemer had been cut out and placed over Defendant's face in family pictures. (R. XXXII, 900-01). When she saw Beemer's face on the photographs, Valerie commented: "Andy must have found out more information about Chuck." (R. XXXII, 954, 993).

Valerie began to do some laundry, the dishes, and wipe down the kitchen counters. According to Jessie, no knives were left on top of the counters. (R. XXXII, 903-04, 916). Jessie looked in every room of the house on the first level and went half way up the stairs towards the attic; however, she turned back because it was so hot up there. (R. XXXII, 905-07).

Jessie and Valerie discussed a photo of Fouard that was on Valerie's new phone. Jessie suggested Valerie to remove it, since she was claiming she had no relationship with Fouard. They also discussed an earlier statement that Valerie made that Fouard was going to pay for her divorce. (R. XXXII, 897, 920).

Valerie spoke on the phone with Fouard after arriving at the house with Jessie. Jessie said she knew Valerie was speaking with Fouard, but was attempting to give Valerie privacy and did not hear what was said. (R. XXXII, 917-18, 996; XL, 2893-94).

Jessie testified that she had previously missed a call from her mother-in-law, Barbara Heitsman, so she stepped outside to call her back. After speaking with Barbara for just a few seconds, Jessie testified she saw the Defendant running from the dining room to the kitchen and towards the back bedroom. (R. XXXII, 927-29). According to Jessie, the Defendant did not stop or pick up anything in the kitchen. (R. XXXII, 943). She heard Valerie cry out: “Stop! No. Andy, oh God. No. Stop.” (R. XXXII, 930).

Jessie tried to call 911. When she went back into the house, the Defendant met her at the door. He stabbed her in the abdomen. According to Jessie’s preliminary hearing testimony, Defendant looked angry. (R. XXXII, 970). Jessie back peddled down the stairs outside the house, while the Defendant stabbed her chest area again. They both fell into the yard, and the knife flew out of the Defendant’s hand. The Defendant picked up the knife and stabbed her three more times in the back. She turned over on her back and kicked at the Defendant. Defendant then stopped and went back into the house. (R. XXXII, 937-39).

Jessie got to her feet and dialed 911 again. (R. XXXII, 941). The Defendant came back out of the door and stabbed her again. He also took her cell phone. Jessie testified that she asked: “Why are you doing this?” According to Jessie, the Defendant replied: “You’re the reason we are getting divorced. You’re the reason she is leaving me.” Jessie stated: “I have never done anything to you.” (R. XXXII, 941-42). The Defendant then stopped attacking Jessie and went back in the house. (R. XL, 2945).

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