No. 12-108795-A

FILED

OCT 16 2014

HEATHER L. SMITH  
CLERK OF APPELLATE COURTS

---

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS**

---

**STATE OF KANSAS**  
Plaintiff/Appellee

vs.

**MICHAEL ANDREW PAULSON,**  
Defendant/Appellant

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

Appeal from the District Court of Saline County, Kansas  
Honorable Rene S. Young, District Court Judge  
District Court Case No. 2010 CR 804

Approved

OCT 16 2014

Attorney General of Kansas  
BY Nc S. Ct. Rule 6.10

Christina Trocheck, #17275  
Assistant Saline County Attorney  
300 W. Ash, Room 302  
Salina, Kansas 67401  
Tel. No. (785) 309-5815  
Facsimile No. (785) 309-5816  
christina.trocheck@saline.org

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

Since 2004, this court has also demanded that any prosecutorial misconduct error meet the "dual standard" of both constitutional harmlessness and statutory harmlessness to uphold a conviction. See *State v. Tosh*, 278 Kan. 83, 97, 91 P.3d 1204 (2004). ("Before the third factor can ever override the first two factors, an appellate court must be able to say that both the K.S.A. 60-261 and *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967), harmlessness tests have been met.").

The Court has said that under the constitutional harmless error analysis defined in *Chapman v. California*, "the error may be declared harmless where the party benefitting from the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of will not or did not affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record, *i.e.*, where there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict." *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, Syl. ¶ 6, 256 P.3d 801 (2011), *cert. denied* 132 S. Ct. 1594, 182 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2012).

Under the harmless error analysis defined in K.S.A. 60-261, the test is equally clear. The court "determine[s] if there is a reasonable probability that the error did or will affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record." *Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, 256 P.3d 801, Syl. ¶ 6.

Under both standards, the party benefitting from the error here, allegedly the State, bears the burden of demonstrating harmlessness. *State v. Herbel*, 296 Kan. 1101, 299 P.3d 292 (2013). That burden is higher when the error is of constitutional magnitude. See *Herbel*, 296 Kan. at 1109-10 ("Clearly, the party benefitting from the constitutional error must meet a higher standard to show harmlessness than the standard required in nonconstitutional error.").

In determining whether prosecutorial misconduct was gross and flagrant, among the things considered are whether the comments were repeated, emphasized improper points, were planned or calculated, or violated well-established or unequivocal rules. *State v. Brown*, 295 Kan. 181, 214, 284 P.3d 977 (2012). In determining whether prosecutorial misconduct was motivated by ill will, among the things considered are whether the conduct was deliberate or in apparent indifference to a court's ruling. *Marshall*, 294 Kan. at 862. None of these considerations apply.

For the same reasons, there was no ill will on the part of the prosecutor. The prosecutor based her arguments on the evidence presented at trial. None of the points were improper and none violated any rules. Furthermore, there was no indifference to any court rulings to the contrary.

The jury was properly instructed that it was their job to weigh the evidence. (Vol. Vol. 4, p. 705). If this Court finds error, it was harmless as there is no reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record; therefore, any error would not have impacted the verdict. The evidence against the defendant was overwhelming. Jessie Putman witnessed much of the events of July 6, 2010, and the defendant confessed to his children that he had killed their mother and mentioned that Jessie Putman was also likely dead.

A review of the entire record supports the conclusion that any error did not affect the outcome; therefore, the defendant's convictions should be upheld.

**ISSUE 3: THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT PERMITTED THE STATE TO INTRODUCE RELEVANT EVIDENCE REGARDING THE DEFENDANT'S BELIEFS ON MARRIAGE AND DIVORCE.**

When there is a challenge to evidence the trial court excludes or admits, the standard of review is as follows:

“When considering a challenge to the admission of evidence, the first step is to determine whether the evidence is relevant. Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency in reason to prove any material fact. Relevance is established by a material or logical connection between the asserted facts and the inference or result they are intended to establish. Once relevance is established, the second step requires the court to apply the statutory rules governing admission and exclusion of evidence. These rules are applied either as a matter of law or in the exercise of the trial court’s discretion.”

*State v. Smith*, \_\_\_ Kan. \_\_\_, 327 P.3d 441, Syl. ¶ 1 (June 27, 2014).

“Whether the probative value of otherwise relevant evidence outweighs its potential for undue prejudice is reviewed for abuse of discretion.” *Smith*, 327 P.3d at 449, citing *State v. Phillips*, 295 Kan. 929, 949, 287 P.3d 245 (2012); and *State v. Wilson*, 295 Kan. 605, 621, 289 P.3d 1082 (2012).

A court abuses its discretion: “(1) When no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial judge; (2) when a ruling is based on an error of law; and (3) when substantial competent evidence does not support a trial judge’s finding of fact on which the exercise of discretion is based.” *State v. Huddleston*, 298 Kan. 941, 318 P.3d 140 (2014).

The defendant cites *State v. Leitner*, 272 Kan. 398, 34 P.3d 42 (2001), in support of his position that the document on the defendant’s computer were not tied to the crimes charged against the defendant. In *Leitner*, the prosecutor cross-examined the defendant about her involvement with the Wicca religion. The *Leitner* Court ultimately held that the appellate record contained nothing to suggest that the defendant’s abstract beliefs had any connection to her killing her husband. The Court held that because the evidence of the

defendant's practice of witchcraft was more prejudicial than probative, was not directly relevant to the crime charged, and served no purpose in impeaching the defendant, no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court in admitting the evidence. *Leitner*, 272 Kan. at 416. Here, the document deals with the defendant's views on divorce and infidelity, which are issues directly relevant to issues of his motive, intent and premeditation. The defendant learned that Valerie had been unfaithful in their marriage. Additionally, the evidence presented at trial also established that Valerie Paulson was leaving the defendant and planned to pursue a divorce if the defendant did not pursue one himself. Furthermore, Valerie Paulson relayed to Jessie Putman the comments that the defendant made in the car prior to dropping Valerie off at the Putman residence on July 5, 2010, which mirrored the statements contained within the document. None of this evidence involves the practice of witchcraft to make the evidence more prejudicial than probative.

Even if the evidence was erroneously admitted, the admission was harmless. The statutory harmless error standard set forth in K.S.A. 60-261 and K.S.A. 60-2105 apply in determining whether there is a "reasonable probability the error affected the outcome of the trial in light of the record as a whole." *State v. Warrior*, 294 Kan. 484, 277 P.3d 1111 (2012). As the State was the party that benefitted from the admission of the evidence, it has the burden of demonstrating that the error was harmless. *State v. McCullough*, 293 Kan. 970, 983, 270 P.3d 1142 (2012).

Here, the defendant admitted to his children that he killed their mother and further told Austin Paulson that Jessie Putman was dead and he could have saved her. Jessie Putman's testimony establishes that the defendant attacked and killed Valerie Paulson

and tried to kill Ms. Putman. Any erroneous admission of the document regarding the defendant's religious beliefs is overcome by the strength of the State's evidence in this case.

**ISSUE 4: THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF VALERIE PAULSON.**

As in the previous issues,

“When considering a challenge to the admission of evidence, the first step is to determine whether the evidence is relevant. Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency in reason to prove any material fact. Relevance is established by a material or logical connection between the asserted facts and the inference or result they are intended to establish. Once relevance is established, the second step requires the court to apply the statutory rules governing admission and exclusion of evidence. These rules are applied either as a matter of law or in the exercise of the trial court's discretion.”

*State v. Smith*, \_\_\_ Kan. \_\_\_, 327 P.3d 441, Syl. ¶ 1 (June 27, 2014).

“When the adequacy of the legal basis of a district judge's decision on admission or exclusion of evidence is questioned, we review the decision de novo. [Citations omitted.]” *State v. Magallanez*, 290 Kan. 906, 920-21, 235 P.3d 460 (2010). See *State v. Shadden*, 290 Kan. 803, Syl. ¶ 4, 235 P.3d 436 (2010).

The district court found that the statements that Valerie Paulson made to Jessie Putman after Ms. Paulson was dropped off by the defendant on July 5, 2010, were admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(2) and K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3). (Vol. 21, pp. 154-155).

K.S.A. 60-460(d)(2), permits the admission of contemporaneous statements if the court finds that the statement was made “while the declarant was under the stress of a nervous excitement caused by such perception.” The trial court specifically found that

Valerie Paulson was still under the stress of the nervous excitement when she relayed the defendant's comments to Jessie Putman. (Vol. 21, pp. 154-155).

Pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3), the Court may admit a statement on the grounds of necessity if "the declarant is unavailable as a witness, by the declarant at a time when the matter had been recently perceived by the declarant and while the declarant's recollection was clear and was made in good faith prior to the commencement of the action and with no incentive to falsify or to distort." The district court properly concluded that Valerie Paulson was unavailable, and that Valerie Paulson made the statements to Jessie Putman after she had just gotten out of the car where she had been subjected to the statements made by the defendant. The Court properly found these statements were made in good faith prior to the commencement of the action and properly concluded that Valerie Paulson had no incentive to falsify or to distort. (Vol. 21, pp. 154-155).

The defendant challenges the district court's ruling in this regard but the State submits the court's ruling is supported by the appellate record. When Valerie Paulson made the statements to Jessie Putman, Valerie was still shaken and upset. She didn't make any statements that she intended to pursue any type of vindictive action against the defendant. In fact, Valerie Paulson told Ms. Putman that she would never take the children away from the defendant in a divorce and characterized the defendant as a good dad. There was no ulterior agenda being furthered by Valerie Paulson when she made the statements to Ms. Putman; therefore, the district court's decision was supported by the record and should be upheld.

The district court also found that the statements that Valerie Paulson made to Jessie Putman in June, 2010, were admissible under K.S.A. 60-460(d)(1), as the

statements were made while Valerie Paulson was perceiving the event. (Vol. 21, pp. 159-165). The court also found the statements admissible under K.S.A. 60-460(d)(2), finding that Valerie Paulson was under the stress of nervous excitement while making the statements. The court further found the statements admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3), finding that Valerie Paulson was unavailable and had made the statements during a time when the matter had been recently perceived by Valerie Paulson and while her recollection was clear. The court also found that Valerie Paulson's statements were made in good faith prior to the commencement of an action and with no incentive to falsify or distort. The court further found the evidence relevant to show a discordant relationship. (Vol. 21, p. 165).

The defense further submits that the trial court erred in admitting testimony regarding the discordant marital relationship between Valerie and the defendant, and Valerie's state of mind but Kansas courts have routinely admitted marital discord evidence in cases involving marital homicide. *State v. Drach*, 268 Kan. 636, 649, 1 P.3d 864 (2000). Admissible evidence of marital discord can take many forms, including testimony by others who saw the couple fighting, arguing, or otherwise in conflict. *Drach*, 268 Kan. at 649. In *State v. Taylor*, the Court upheld the trial court's admission of the deceased wife's notebook in which she wrote about marital counseling and how the defendant's anger made her feel. The *Taylor* Court stated that the victim's discordant relationship with the defendant and fear of the defendant's temper was competent evidence because it had bearing on the defendant's motive and intent. *Taylor*, 234 Kan. 401, 408, 673 P.2d 1140 (1983).

As noted in *State v. Vasquez*, 287 Kan. 40, 53, 194 P.3d 563 (2008), “anger and jealousy in troubled romantic relationships are not necessarily logical or linear. Neither are they strictly time-bound. Rather, these volatile emotions may wax and wane; they may build over time or be tamped down by sudden or slow reconciliation.”

The court found that statements made by Valerie Paulson to Jessie Putman concerning the financial situation in Lindsborg, in 2008, leading up to July, 2010, were admissible to show the nature of the parties’ relationship and the discordant relationship. The court further concluded that the statements were admissible under K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3). (Vol. 21, pp. 167-177). The district court found that statements that Valerie Paulson made to Jessie Putman about the defendant’s temper were admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3), and relevant to the relationship between the parties, marital discord, and the defendant’s motive. (Vol. 21, pp. 189-190).

The district court found that the statements that Valerie Paulson made to Dawn Kurtz on July 6, 2010, were relevant to Valerie Paulson’s state of mind and to show the events leading up to the homicide. The court further found that the statements were admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(1) and (d)(3). (Vol. 21, pp. 234-239).

The district court found that statements that Valerie Paulson made to Danielle Norwood about the defendant’s controlling and demeaning behavior toward her were relevant to Ms. Paulson’s state of mind as well as the relationship between the parties. (Vol. 21, pp. 240-245). The district court found that the statements were admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3). (Vol. 21, p. 245). Additionally, the district court found that statements that Valerie Paulson made to Danielle Norwood shortly before July 6, 2010, about wanting a divorce from the defendant and that Valerie and the defendant

were sleeping in separate rooms, were relevant to the relationship between the parties and discordant relationship. The court further found that the statements were admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 60-460(d)(3). (Vol. 21, p. 249).

The court found that statements that Valerie Paulson made to her brother, Kevin Putman, in the months prior to her death in which Valerie stated things were not going well between her and the defendant were relevant to the relationship between the parties and admissible pursuant to K.S.A. 65-460(d)(3). (Vol. 21, pp. 249-253).

Here, the relationship between Valerie and the defendant started to deteriorate in 2008, when Valerie expressed her fear over telling the defendant about the financial situation. The parties separated briefly and reconciled but Valerie shared with those closest to her that her relationship with the defendant was troubled and that eventually compelled her to discuss pursuing a divorce. When the parties moved to Assaria, the relationship between Valerie and the defendant got more tense and strained. As 2010 progressed, Valerie shared with her friends and family that things were worse between her and the defendant and she began to talk about divorce more frequently. The discordant relationship between Valerie and the defendant is a central factor of what led to the events of July 6, 2010. When the defendant learned that Valerie had been involved with other individuals, he was angry. When the defendant learned that Valerie intended to pursue a divorce, he became angrier. This evidence was properly introduced as the discordant marital relationship that existed between the defendant and Valerie Paulson prior to the divorce.

Even if the evidence was erroneously admitted, the admission was harmless. The statutory harmless error standard set forth in K.S.A. 60-261 and K.S.A. 60-2105 apply in

determining whether there is a “reasonable probability the error affected the outcome of the trial in light of the record as a whole.” *State v. Warrior*, 294 Kan. 484, 277 P.3d 1111 (2012). As the State was the party that benefitted from the admission of the evidence, it has the burden of demonstrating that the error was harmless. *State v. McCullough*, 293 Kan. 970, 983, 270 P.3d 1142 (2012).

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